2001

West Gallery Corporation, a Utah Corporation dba Gallery I Theatre, Don Walls and Linda Tolliver v. Salt Lake City Board of Commissioners : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The plaintiffs-respondents commenced this action by filing their Motion for and obtaining a Restraining Order, which prevented defendant-appellant from having a hearing it had called to determine whether plaintiffs-respondents' business and regulatory licenses should be revoked. The Restraining Order was granted giving rise to this appeal.

For convenience of reference, the plaintiffs-respondents will hereinafter be referred to as "Gallery", and the defendant-appellant will hereinafter be referred to as "City".

DISPOSITION OF CASE BY LOWER COURT

The lower court granted Gallery's injunction permanently restraining the Board of City Commissioners from holding a hearing to determine whether Gallery's City granted regulatory and business licenses should be revoked until subsequent to the result of a criminal proceeding before the City Court.

As stated in the Notice of Appeal, paragraph No. 1 of the Order of the lower court is no longer applicable because Sections 20-20-18.2 through 20-20-18.12 have been repealed as evidenced by the certified copy of the Repeal of Ordinance attached to City's Notice of Appeal. Nevertheless, the same arguments apply to all three findings of the court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

City seeks to have the lower court's Judgment reversed, and a determination made that City has the right to proceed administratively with a license hearing without prior interference from the Court, and for City's costs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The undisputed facts as shown by the pleadings and the record in this case are as follows:

1. On the 20th day of November, 1974, City, after receiving complaints from citizens and law enforcement officers, served upon Gallery its Order to answer the allegations contained in the Petition attached thereto, and if found true, to show cause why the business licenses granted should not be revoked. (Record on appeal pp. 18, 19, 20)

2. On the 25th day of November, 1974, Gallery filed its Motion seeking a Preliminary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause, which were granted, enjoining City from proceeding with its administrative hearing until hearing set by the court. (Record on appeal pp. 31, 32)

3. On the 25th day of November, 1974, at the hour of 9:00 a.m., the court heard arguments from both parties and made its findings reflected in its Order of December 17, 1974. (Record on appeal pp. 35, 36)

4. On the 14th day of January, 1975, City repealed sections 20-20-18.2 through 20-20-18.12, Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City.

5. On January 16, 1975, City's Notice of Appeal was filed in this case.

ISSUES TO BE RESOLVED ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court exceed its jurisdiction and/or abuse its discretion, prior to any hearing on the

matter by City, by taking premature jurisdiction and making a conclusive and final determination that the Board of City Commissioners could not make an executive or administrative determination of whether a film was obscene as grounds for revoking a license or licenses and that City had to wait for such a determination to be made by the court in a pending criminal proceeding, thus violating separation of governmental powers.

2. Was the lower court ultra vires its jurisdiction in concluding in its Order of December 17, 1974, before any City hearing, that the Board of City Commissioners could not proceed with its Hearing to determine whether a movie was obscene for possible license revocation purposes, when criminal charges had been filed against Gallery for the same acts and the basic question to be determined in the criminal action was whether the film in question was obscene.

3. Did the lower court exceed and/or abuse its discretion or act ultra vires its jurisdiction in enjoining the City from further proceedings until criminal actions pending against the Gallery in the City Court had been concluded.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY PROHIBITING THE CITY FROM HOLDING AN ADMINISTRATIVE

HEARING CONCERNING POSSIBLE LICENSE REVOCATION.

City contends that the District Court did not have jurisdiction to entertain or enter its Order of December 17, 1974, and that its action in doing so was an abuse of the jurisdiction and discretion of the District Court. In entering its Order the lower court held that the City had no right, administratively, to set up and hold an Evidentiary Hearing and make a determination of whether it should or should not revoke licenses it has granted.

A municipal governing body in this State has the administrative and legislative power to license and regulate businesses, *Section 10-8-39, Utah Code Annotated 1953*, which fairly implies that it also has the inherent right to withdraw licenses it may issue. See *Riggins v. District Court*, 89 Utah 183, 51 P. 2d 645, *Monamotor Oil Co. v. Johnson* (DC) 3 F. Supp. 189, affd. 292 U. S. 86, 78 L. Ed. 1141, 54 S. Ct. 575; *State ex rel First Presby. Church v. Fuller*, 136 Fla. 788, 187 So. 148; *Hibbard S. B. & Co. v. Chicago*, 173 Ill. 91, 50 N. E. 256; *Medias v. Indianapolis*, 216 Ind. 155, 23 N. E. 2d 590, 125 A.L.R. 590; *Simmons v. State*, 12 Mo. 268; *Wallace v. Reno*, 27 Nev. 71, 73 P. 528; *Garford Trucking Inc. v. Hoffman*, 114 N.J.L. 522, 177 A. 882; *Peop'e ex rel. Lodes v. Department of Health*, 189 N. Y. 187, 82 N. E. 187; *Hutchins v. Durham*, 118 N. C. 457, 24 S. E. 723; *La Plante v. State Bd. of Pub-*

lic Roads, 47 R. I. 258, 131 A. 641; *Heslep v. State Highway Dept.*, 171 S. C. 186, 171 S. E. 913; *Sherman v. State Dental Examiners* (Tex. Civ. App.) 116 S. W. 2d 843; *State ex rel Nowotny v. Milwaukee*, 140 Wis. 28, 121 N. W. 658; *State ex rel Morris v. West Virginia Racing Comm.* 133 W. Va. 179, 55 S. E. 2d 263; *Wiggins v. Chicago*, 68 Ill. 372.

It has been held that to confer or attempt to confer upon a court of record the power to have hearings on license revocations was an unconstitutional invasion of the exclusive function of the legislative departments of government. See *State v. Huber*, 129 W. Va. 198, 40 S. E. 2d 11, 168 A.L.R. 808, Anno. at p. 826.

It is the general rule that an administrative action which is not final, or, as in this case, has not even progressed to the hearing stage, cannot be attacked in an injunction proceeding by reason of the fact that absent a final order or decision, power has not been fully and finally exercised, there can be no irreparable harm, the administrative intention is not known, and therefore, the controversy is not ripe for equitable intervention. *Thomas v. Ramberg*, 240 Minn. 1, 60 N. W. 2d 18; *Florentine v. Darien*, 142 Conn. 415, 115 A. 2d 328; *Eccles v. Peoples Bank*, 333 U. S. 426, 92 L. Ed. 784, 68 S. Ct. 691, reh den 33 U. S. 877, 92 L. Ed. 1153, 68 S. Ct. 900. Gallery should have exhausted its administrative procedures before resorting to the courts.

The mere fact that Gallery alleged City's acts were

unconstitutional (Record on Appeal p. 2) was not and should not have been grounds to prevent the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies from operating. *Public Utilities Com. v. United States*, 355 U. S. 534, 2 L. Ed. 2d 470, 78 S. Ct. 446, reh den, 356 U. S. 925, 2 L. Ed. 2d 760, 78 S. Ct. 713; *Illinois Commerce Com. v. Thomson*, 318 U. S. 675, 87 L. Ed. 1075, 63 S. Ct. 834; *Highland Farms Dairy v. Agnew*, 300 U. S. 608, 81 L. Ed. 835, 57 S. Ct. 549; *First Nat. Bank v. Weld County*, 264 U. S. 450, 68 L. Ed. 784, 44 S. Ct. 385; *People v. Calvar Corp.*, 286 N. Y. 419, 36 N. E. 2d 644, 136 A.L.R. 1376; *State ex rel. Employment Secur. Com. v. Kermon*, 232 N. C. 342, 60 S. E. 2d 580. Neither could the doctrine be circumvented by the assertion that the charge was improper or groundless and would result in irreparable damage (Record on Appeal p. 3). See *Myers v. Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp.*, 303 U. S. 41, 82 L. Ed. 638, 58 S. Ct. 459; *Smith v. Highway Board*, 117 Vt. 343, 91 A. 2d 805.

In a case in point, an employer charged with violation of the wage stabilization provisions of the Defense Production Act of 1960, sought to enjoin, as Gallery did in the lower court, the holding of a hearing on grounds that the Statute did not authorize the procedure contemplated, and that if it did, the Statute was unconstitutional. The Court held that it would be premature for it to rule on questions concerning the interpretation or constitutionality of a Statute until after the administrative procedures were completed. *Allen v.*

Grand Central Aircraft Co., 347 U. S. 535, 98 L. Ed. 933, 75 S. Ct. 745.

In another case the Court found that the very fact constitutional issues were put forward established a strong reason for not taking jurisdiction of the suit, in order for the Court to attempt to determine, prior to such an actual determination by the administrative body, what the administrative body's final act and decision would be, because the Court found, when the administrative body's procedure was finished it may be possible that nothing would be left for which the plaintiff could complain. *Aircraft and D Equipment Corporation v. Hirsch*, 331 U. S. 752, 91 L. Ed. 1796, 67 S. Ct. 1493.

In still another case, the Tennessee Supreme Court refused to grant a motion for injunction asserting unconstitutionality of a Statute prior to administrative hearing, even when the complaint contended it would be idle ceremony to follow the procedures outlined because the administrative officers would not admit the section of the act under attack was unconstitutional. *Tennessee Emmanuel Manufacturing v. Hake*, 183 Tenn. 615, 194 S. W. 2d 468.

In another case in point, *Myers v. Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp.*, 303 U. S. 41, 82 L. Ed. 648, 58 S. Ct. 459, the U. S. Supreme Court declared that enjoining the National Labor Relations Board from holding a hearing on grounds that it had no jurisdiction would

substitute the District Court for the Board as the tribunal to hear and determine what Congress declared the Board should exclusively hear and determine in the first instance.

In *Lorance v. Colorado, State Board of Examiners of Architect* (1972), Colo., App., 505 P. 2d 47, in an action seeking a Writ of Prohibition to prevent the Board of Examiners of Architects from conducting a hearing or further proceeding on a Complaint filed against the architect, the Colorado Court of Appeals held that the fact that disciplinary proceedings pending before the Board was based on alleged violation of the Board's regulation, which was assertedly void on its face, did not give the courts authority to determine whether the Board had jurisdiction to proceed. The court asked whether the District Court had jurisdiction to prohibit a branch of the executive government from carrying out its functions, and it specifically held:

"The Colorado Supreme Court has consistently held that the district court does not have jurisdiction to restrain an administrative agency from performing its statutory function." (See also *Colorado State Board of Medical Examiners v. District Court*, 138 Colo. 227, 331 P. 2d 502.)

The City had the right in the first instance to hear any matter concerning licenses issued by the Board of City Commissioners under authorization of State Law. The District Court violated the rule of separation of powers by improperly taking jurisdiction prior to hear-

ing and final determination by the City. The Utah Supreme Court has not ruled on this issue, however as the foregoing cases indicate, the United States Supreme Court and many of our sister states have so ruled.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT HAS NO POWER TO REVIEW THE ACTION OF THE CITY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS UNTIL AFTER THE ACTION HAS BEEN TAKEN.

The District Court has power to review the decision after a hearing and has no power to anticipate what the decision of the Board of Commissioners may be with regard to revocation of a license. Perhaps the case that best states the City's position with regard to this matter is the case of *Sabes v. Minneapolis* (1963), 120 N. W. 2d 871, which was a liquor license case but the findings apply in this case:

“Basically it is the counsels duty to decide whether the licensee has been guilty of such unlawful conduct in the operation of its business and its continuance is detrimental to the public good. (citing cases) In reviewing the proceedings of the municipality, it is not the court's function to pass on the wisdom of the revocation but only to determine whether the counsel exercised an honest and reliable discretion or whether it acted capriciously, arbitrarily or impulsively. (citing cases) For us to assume greater responsibility would constitute an unconstitutional usurpation of non-judicial powers. (citing cases).”

It is the City's position that the District Court has by its Order usurped the non-judicial powers of the City. The court should not intervene in an administrative procedure of this type until the hearing has been held and final action taken.

There are numerous cases, which state the correct procedure. In these cases the court has reviewed decisions of administrative bodies after the administrative body has conducted its hearing. The court was then called upon to determine, as the law allows and requires, whether or not the administrative board had functioned properly.

One such case is *Ciampa v. City of Chicago* (1973), 12 Ill. App. 3d 368, 299 N. E. 2d 53. In this case the plaintiff, Ciampa, instituted a suit seeking Mandamus to compel reinstatement of its Food Purveyors License. The Food Purveyors License was revoked *without* hearing by the Mayor on his finding that the licensee had sold an obscene magazine at his business establishment. The plaintiff contended, as Gallery did in the court below, that this action was a prior restraint on freedom of speech. The lower court held that the license revocation was proper and specifically held:

"Plaintiff's authorities stand for the general proposition that prior restraint on freedom of expression, such as mass seizure of books or impounding of films, are illegal unless a prior adversary hearing is provided. The defendants do not take exception to this general proposition.

The action of the Mayor in the present case however, was not one of seizure or suppression of the publication, but rather one of revoking a license for cause. We are of the opinion that there is no requirement shown under the law which would necessitate the Mayor having a prior judicial determination before he can revoke a food purveyors license for a violation involving the sale of obscene material.”

In the case at bar, the City was prevented from even having the hearing it believes the law required and which it intended to provide the plaintiff.

For a very recent case where an administrative body found that a broadcast over the radio was obscene, without a prior judicial determination, see *Illinois Citizens Committee for Broadcasting v. F.C.C.* (11-20-74) 43 L. W. 2237. Other cases which support the City's view of this case are the following:

1. In the case of the *City of Chicago v. Curtland*, 79 F. 2d 963, the Federal Court stated:

“In the United States Court, it is an established rule that whether established facts, found by the administrative body, amounts to a violation, becomes a question of law for the Court. The legal question is whether there was sufficient evidence before the administrative officer could justify finding a violation. *Stated otherwise, the limited question submitted to the Court was whether the administrative officer acted arbitrarily and therefore illegally.*” (Emphasis added)

2. *Weinstein v. Daley* (1967), 85 Ill. App. 2d 470, 229 N. E. 2d 357, in Chicago case where the defendant requested the Court review an Order of the Liquor Commission revoking his retail liquor license. The Court held:

“The Courts consideration of appeal of the license revocation brought before it from the right and appeal commission is limited to matters of record and the Court may consider only whether the local commission acted arbitrarily or in clear abuse of its discretion and whether the Order entered by the Commission was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence.”

3. In *D. C. Rydd v. State Board of Health* (1969), 202 Kan. 721, 451 P. 2d 239, a Kansas case, the defendant appealed from an Order of the Board of Health denying the license to operate a Child Care Home, the Court stated:

“The District Court may not, on appeal, substitute its judgment for that of the administrative tribunal but is restricted to considering, whether as a matter of law, the tribunal acted fraudulently, arbitrarily or capriciously, the administrative order was substantially supported by the evidence in this case, the tribunal’s action was within the scope of its authority.”

4. In *Dubato v. Board of Trustees of the Corporate Village of Bayville*, 166 N. Y. S. 2d 917. The Court held:

“Upon a review of the decision of the Board

of Trustees, the Court would not substitute its judgment for facts and make a determination and decision de novo. This Court will not and cannot substitute its own judgment of the facts and make a determination and decision of its own de novo. It is limited to the question whether the action of the Board was an abuse of discretion and whether it was arbitrary, malicious and unreasonable. This Court concludes that there was sufficient evidence to sustain the Board's finding, determination and decision."

5. In *Nevada Tax Commission v. Hicks*, 73 Nev. 115 (1959), 310 P. 2d 852. The Court carefully delineated the area within which Courts may act on judicial review of Commission action.

" . . . it is not the province of the courts to decide what shall be reasonable cause for revocation of license; that such determination is an administrative one to be made by the Commission in the exercise of its judgment based upon its specialized experience and knowledge. The only reviewable question is whether the cause for revocation is reasonable." (emphasis added)

6. The Utah Supreme Court also support the foregoing decisions in the following case which City believes to be controlling in the case at bar. In the case of *Skelton v. Lees* (1958), 8 Utah 2d 88, 329 P. 2d 389, a civil engineer instituted proceedings in the District Court to review and reverse the action of the Director of the Department of Registration refusing to register and license him as a civil engineer, the Third Judicial District Court entered judgment adverse to the Direc-

tor and others and they appealed to the Supreme Court. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the decision of the Department of Registration and in so doing stated:

“It is our conclusion that the District Court should be limited to the review of the record made before the Department of Registration, and is thus bound by established rules, applicable to such reviews, and determination of an administrative agency should not be reversed merely because the District Court will interfere only if the Department of Registration acted capriciously, arbitrarily, or outside the scope of its authority.” (See also *Peterson v. Industrial Commission* [1942] 102 U. 175, 129 P. 2d 563; *Woodburn v. Industrial Commission* [1947], 111 U. 393, 181 P. 2d 209; *Union Pacific R. Co. v. Public Service Commission* [1956], 5 U. 2d 230, 300 P. 2d 600.)

POINT III

THE EFFECT OF THE LOWER COURT'S RULING IS TO IMPROPERLY CHANGE THE BURDEN OF PROOF FROM A CIVIL, PREPONDERANCE, TO THE CRIMINAL, BEYOND REASONABLE DOUBT, WITH THE ADDED BURDEN AND REQUIREMENT THAT THE COURT MUST MAKE THE DETERMINATION FIRST, NOT THE CITY.

In any administrative hearing the burden of proof is the preponderance of the evidence, and in making

such determinations, the administrative body cannot be arbitrary or capricious.

By the Court's Order, the Civil burden of Proof the City has for license revocation hearings was eliminated and in its place the Court improperly created a new animal in the law. The requirement that the burden of proof be criminal, beyond reasonable doubt, with the added requirement that the City cannot make this determination administratively, it must be made prior to any such administrative hearing by the criminal court. For this reason alone, the lower court should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

The Decision and Order of the District Court should be reversed as exceeding its jurisdiction, and that its action was a clear abuse of the equitable discretion of the District Court.