2001

West Gallery Corporation, a Utah Corporation,  
dba Gallery I Theater, Don Walls and Linda  
Tolliver v. Salt Lake City Board of Commissioners :  
Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant appeals from an order of the court below granting respondents' motion to enjoin appellant from having a hearing without following its own ordinances and until the related criminal case had been resolved.

## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Respondents sought injunctive relief against appellant and obtained an order enjoining the hearing appellant sought.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents seeks the dismissal of the instant appeal or, in the alternative, the affirmance of the court's order.

## STATEMENTS OF FACTS

On November 19, 1974, appellant caused to be served a notice of violation against respondents for showing an allegedly obscene movie, to wit: "Marriage and Other Four Letter Words". (R.19) An Order to Show Cause was issued by appellant on November 20, 1974, (R.18) requiring respondents to appear and show cause why their business revenue and regulatory licenses should not be revoked. Thereafter, on November 22, 1974, respondents sought and obtained a Temporary Restraining Order restraining the hearing by appellant. (R. 21, 31) On that date an Order to Show Cause was set for December 2, 1974, requiring appellant to show cause why it should not be enjoined from holding a hearing. On December 2, 1974, respondents Motion for a Preliminary Injunction *pendente lite* was granted. (R. 34). That is reflected in the lower court's order of December 17, 1974, (R. 35) from which this appeal is sought.

The Record on Appeal contains the Salt Lake City Ordinance allegedly violated and the procedures set up to revoke a license for violating an Ordinance. (R. 5-17) The procedures set up by appellant for revoking a license are set forth in Section 20-20-18 et. seq. (R. 12-17) Basically, an advisory council was set up and that council was empowered to hold hearings and make findings as to whether or not a violation of the Ordinance had been committed. Those findings were to be forwarded to appellant Commissioners who then determined if a license should be revoked. (R. 13-15)

In this case the record reveals those procedures were not followed. In fact, on January 14, 1975, those procedures were repealed. (R. 39)

After the Order of December 17, 1974, (R. 35) which, when carefully read, simply says that appellant had to follow its own ordinances in trying to revoke a license, respondents stood trial in Salt Lake City Court on a charge of violating a City Ordinance by showing an allegedly obscene movie, "Marriage and Other Four Letter Words". The criminal charge was filed before appellant's order to show cause. This is the same alleged conduct that resulted in appellant's original Order to Show Cause. (R. 18-19) That trial resulted in a verdict of not guilty as to respondent Walls and a dismissal of the case as to respondent Tolliver. (Exhibit "B", Affidavit) Therefore, the Salt Lake City Court case referred to in the Order appealed from (R. 35, 36) has been concluded, favorably to respondents.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

**THE INSTANT APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THERE ARE NO ISSUES IN THIS CASE AND THE APPEAL IS MOOT.**

It is beyond dispute that this court will not decide abstract or moot questions to establish a precedent or to guide future litigation. See e.g., *Mikkelsen v. Utah State Tax Commission*, 22 Utah 2d 438, 455 P.2d 27 (1969).

In this case any issue raised by the Order appealed from (R. 35-36) is now moot because the Salt Lake City Court criminal litigation has now terminated. The Order itself refers in Paragraphs 2 and 3 to the criminal proceedings and simply says that no action can be taken by appellant while the criminal case is pending. It is not now pending, and the Order of the court below has expired, and so this court has no issue facing it.

The issues in the Order do not now rest upon existing facts, and an event has occurred (conclusion of the criminal case) which changes the Order in essence and Paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Order do not have any effect.

It is true that the injunction still needs to be dissolved but the dispute that brought the case here (can appellant hold a hearing to see if respondents violated



an Ordinance when the same question is pending in a criminal case involving the same alleged perpetrators) has ceased to exist. How could there be a question as to that if there is now no criminal case? What decision could this court render that would do more than guide future litigation. If this court reversed the lower court that would have no effect because appellant could not now have a hearing while the other case is pending because it is not pending. To affirm the lower court would also be an empty gesture because it would be to say the appellant could not in the past have held a hearing while a criminal case was pending. That would be a guide to future litigation, but this court has often held it does not hear and decide cases for that reason.

Further, the court's Order in Paragraph 1 said that appellant must follow its own procedures, which have since been repealed. (R. 39) This clearly makes the issues of Paragraph 1 moot. See, e.g., *Mikkelsen, supra*, for a case becoming moot "by reason of new legislation, or by reason of the expiration or the superceding of existing litigation". 22 Utah 2d at 27.

Thus, as this court's decision would be no more than an advisory opinion on moot issues, respondents pray that the appeal be dismissed.

## POINT II

THE COURT BELOW DID NOT ACT  
PREMATURELY OR ABUSE ITS DISCRE-

TION IN ORDERING APPELLANT TO ABIDE BY ITS OWN ORDINANCES AND ENJOINING A HEARING TO DETERMINE THE ALLEGED OBSCENITY OF A FILM WHEN THAT IDENTICAL ISSUE WAS PENDING IN A CRIMINAL CASE.

Appellant's brief seems to be couched in terms of asking this court to overturn action of a lower court which engaged in a raw abuse of power and interfered with a municipal governing body's license revocation powers totally without cause and in a setting of a normal license revocation hearing. This simply is not such a case. The events of this case are completely unique and must be examined in detail to see what the court below actually ruled.

Salt Lake City enacted ordinances (R. 12-17) which set forth in detail the procedures appellant Board of Commissioners was to follow to determine whether or not a license should be revoked or suspended because of a violation of Section 20-20-18.1 of the ordinances. (R. 12) In this case those procedures were not followed by appellant but instead appellant chose to have a hearing on its own initiative to determine if a violation existed and hence a license should be revoked. The court below simply ruled appellant could not proceed in such a manner. The court below did not "interfere" with appellant in its everyday practice of holding some sort of hearing. The court below "interfered" with appellant by ruling that it must follow the very procedures it enacted.

Respondents contend that this factual background entirely negates appellant's argument in Points I and II of its brief. The cases cited by appellant for the proposition that the court abused its discretion are simply not in point nor persuasive. For example, in *Aircraft and D. Equipment Corp. v. Hirsch*, 331 U.S. 752 (1947), which appellant cites for the proposition that a court cannot take jurisdiction before a final administrative act, the Supreme Court was dealing with a case where Congress had set up administrative procedures for the correction of abuses and so the court could not hear the matter until those procedures had been complied with. In *Myers v. Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp.*, 503 U.S. 41, cited by appellant, the Supreme Court actually held as it did because the order of the N.L.R.B. was unenforceable until said order had been affirmed by the Circuit Court of appeals, and so an action to enjoin the N.L.R.B. in federal district court would not lie.

Appellant also cites an opinion of this court, *Shelton v. Lees*, 8 Utah 2d 88, 326 P.2d 386 (1958). That case is not in point in the slightest. *Shelton* dealt only with the statute, Utah Code Annotated, 58-22-19 (1953), which set forth what is to be reviewed and provided that the Department of Registration was to be either affirmed or reversed on review by the district court but a trial de novo was not to be held by the district court. Such a ruling by the court does not support appellant's position in this case.

The lower court's ruling was based on the rationale that appellant had to follow its own ordinances. The ruling went on, however, to say that even if appellant could deviate from its own ordinances it could not hold a hearing during the pendency of a criminal case involving the same issue (obscenity or non-obscenity of a movie entitled "Marriage and Other Four Letter Words") and basically the same parties. (Salt Lake City, a Municipal corporation, v. Don Walls, James Piepenberg, and Linda Tolliver). The court's ruling on this issue is correct because the issues involve First Amendment claims.

Appellant cites cases dealing with liquor licenses, child care homes, tax matters, food purveyors licenses, and so on. None of the cases deal with the issues of free speech as does this case. That distinction is critical. The United States Supreme Court has often dealt with procedures used by various governmental bodies in attempting to deal with allegedly pornographic materials and their operation on protected free speech.

The starting point is *Freedman v. Maryland*, 380 U.S. 51 (1965). In that case Maryland had a rather elaborate system dealing with the submission of movies to a Board of Censors before a movie could be shown. The film exhibitor did not submit the movie in question and challenged the statutory scheme's constitutionality on its face. The Maryland scheme fell short in several areas. The exhibitor had the burden of instituting jud-

icial proceedings persuading the court that material was protected by the First Amendment. The second infirmity was that the exhibition was barred until judicial review was completed. Thirdly, the scheme was held to be invalid because it provided no assurance of prompt judicial determination.

More recently and in light of *Freedom* the United States Supreme Court struck down Chicago's censorship ordinance. In *Tietel Film Corp v. Cusack*, 360 U.S. 139 (1968), Chicago had an administrative procedure which, by its terms, could take from 50 to 57 days to complete before judicial proceedings could be instituted. That was one reason for the invalidity of the scheme under the dictates of *Freedman*. The court also held the Chicago ordinances violative of the constitution because there were no provisions for a prompt judicial decision.

The above cases represent a much more specific attempt at proper regulation than does the one in this case. Here, there are absolutely no provisions existing that appellant was to follow. At least in *Cusack* there were some guidelines, even though invalid. Here, appellant on its own, not even following its own ordinances, just seemingly devised a system whereby it ordered an order to show cause for respondents to come in and show cause why their licenses should not be revoked.

Such a "scheme" magnifies each and every one of the three evils that the Court struck down in *Freedman*. First, the Court made it clear that the burden must rest on the censor to prove the material is not protected, i.e., the censor must show the material obscene. In this case while there is no censor's board, the effect is the same in that if the license was revoked that would amount to a final restraint.

Secondly, if the license were revoked clearly no showing of the material could exist while judicial review was sought. That exact feature was declared invalid in *Freedman* but at least there the ordinances specified the exhibitor could seek judicial review. As mentioned here, there is nothing setting forth any procedures to secure review and seemingly the exhibitor is left to his own imagination as to how to secure judicial review.

The third failure of the ordinances *Freedman* and *Cusack* decried was that there was no assurance of prompt judicial review. In *Cusack* times were specified but they were too lengthy. This requirement exists so that the decision of some board will not amount, in practical effect, to a final restraint without a judicial proceeding. Again, here there is no such procedure set up. Seemingly, if the license was revoked, respondents would somehow have to find their way through the local courts in a time consuming procedure to see if a court agreed with appellant's decision that the material was not protected.

Those evils are precisely what the Court in *Freedman* and *Cusack* held may not exist. Only after an adversary judicial proceeding can a valid final restraint exist. This “scheme” or impromptu procedure attempted by appellants illustrates the dangers the court ten years ago sought to eliminate.

Appellant has suggested that respondents could not get a court to interfere because maybe they would have nothing to complain about because appellant may not have revoked their license. Aside from real life practicalities in this case that argument totally fails in light of *Freedman*. There too, the exhibitor did not know if his movie could have “passed” the censor’s board or not as he did not even submit it. The exhibitor there went to court before the censor acted and got a court to say, by declaratory judgment, the scheme was invalid. Here respondents sought the same thing in effect though via an injunction rather than declaratory judgment. Therefore, the argument that respondent was “premature” in going to court is totally rejected in *Freedman*.

For these reasons respondents submit that the court below was correct and that its judgment should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons above stated, that the appeal is moot, respondents respectfully submit that the appeal should be dismissed. In the alternative, for the reasons above stated, the judgment and order of the court below should be affirmed.